STATE EX REL. Antjuan Redmond
Kettle Moraine Correctional Institution
P.O. BOX 282
Plymouth, WI 53073,

Petitioner-Appellant,

CASE NO. 14-CV-310
APPEAL NO. 2014AP0002637
Three-Judge Panel Appeal

Brian Foster (Warden)¹
Kettle Moraine Correctional Institution
W9071 Forest Dr.
Plymouth, WI 53073,

Respondent-Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Was Honorable Judge L. Edward Stengel decision erroneous when he denied Redmond his habeas corpus without holding an evidentiary hearing on Redmond's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel when material facts were presented?

CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED NO.

2. Did Honorable Judge L. Edward Stengel abused his discretion and erroneously decided that a Habeas is not the proper remedy challenging revocation counsel effectiveness but a motion to Division of Hearings and Appeals is?

Circuit Court Answered no.

3. Did Redmond's habeas petition show anything that would cause for an evidentiary hearing in his initial brief on an ineffective assistance claim?

Circuit Court Answered no.

4. Did Redmond have to exhaust a certiorari petition if he alleges that he did not have a fair revocation hearing because of ineffective assistance of counsel, which is to be litigated in a habeas petition?

Circuit Court Answered no.

5. Was Redmond sentence a continuous sentence that gives him the right to file a habeas on a past sentence having already been sat consistent with *Garlotte v. Fordice*?

Circuit court answered no.

6. Was Atty. Moriarty's motion to dismiss the proper mechanism to challenge the merits of Redmond's claims?

Circuit Court Answered yes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The appeal arose from Redmond's Revocation hearing held on April 17, 2012 risen from a battery charge toward his child mother and her nephew in Dane County-Madison, WI in which he, Redmond, raises the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel as to why he was revoked and his rights being violated. Redmond appealed to the Sheboygan Circuit Court stating he is being held based on the following pursuant to an a Habeas Corpus Chapter 782:
 - a) Redmond is being restrained of personal liberty by the Respondent, in Kettle Moraine Correctional Institution in Sheboygan, WI;
 - b) Redmond is not imprisoned by virtue of any judgment, order or execution specified in 782.02
 - c) The cause of pretense of such imprisonment according to the best of petitioner's knowledge and belief.
 - d) The restraint of Redmond's liberty is contrary to constitutional Protections
 - e) No other adequate remedy for the relief Redmond seeks is available at law.(R: 10- Redmond's habeas brief)
2. Although Redmond did not specify the above a-e, the court upon agreements cured them with the Atty. Moriarty. (R: 19- pg-2 Headnote).
3. Redmond Stated in his Habeas corpus petition that the reasons of him being revoked were because of his Counsel, Randall Skiles, effectiveness and newly discovered evidence.
4. Redmond Presented evidence that his attorney was ineffective with corroborating affidavits, letters, documents, recordings etc. but the court did not hold an evidentiary hearing.

5. The evidence shows with specifics that Redmond did not assault or batter his Childs mother, Ms. Thomas, or her nephew K.E.B.
6. The law is clear when there is evidence, which is reliable, that states facts, an evidentiary hearing shall be held. The judge in his case did not feel Redmond deserves any relief or hearing because it was a unique situation that he has never come across (App.3) so by the documents put fourth, he decided nothing should be given (hearing) to Redmond. And that Redmond may have another remedy to address before filing a Habeas Corpus.
7. The Judge decided that Counsel was effective, argued in Atty. Moriarty's decision, which was his final ruling.
8. The Judge stated that Redmond could have raised an ineffective assistance claim to the Decision of Hearings and Appeals, which is contrary to what the actual law states.
9. The Judge Stated that Atty. Moriarty did not violate Redmond due process and fundamental fairness when he argued the merits in the motion to dismiss when there was a briefing scheduled already set. Although there are no laws that support this or contrary to the action to the best of Redmond's knowledge, Redmond maintains that his rights were violated when he has the opening brief, then reply to the response, which was positioned to the Atty. Moriarty having the opening spot, and having the last reply because of the motion to dismiss.
10. More of the case will be presented through the arguments in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Redmond was sentenced to two years initial confinement and three years extended supervision (“ES”) by the Dane County Circuit Court. Redmond was also placed on five years’ probation, sentence withheld, following a Burglary conviction. He was released to ES on June 7, 2011.
2. Revocation was being held because of allegations against Redmond, reported by Ms. Thomas and K.E.B², in which Redmond allegedly battered them both, which brought subsequent felony charges.
3. By Revocation Warrant dated March 15, 2012, the Agent alleged that Redmond:
 1. Hit Ms. Thomas (“Ms. Thomas”);
 2. Pushed Ms. Thomas;
 3. Put his hands around Ms. Thomas neck in a choking manner;
 4. Struck K.E.B, DOB 09/18/03;
 5. Failed to report to his Agent as scheduled;
 6. Drove a motor vehicle without a valid driver’s license;
 7. Was in possession of marijuana; and (Scratched from record)
 8. Gave false information to police. (R: 10- EX 3)

² **Names and References:** *Astoria Thomas* (Hereinafter as Ms. Thomas), *Nephew* (Hereinafter as K.E.B.), *Antjuan Redmond* (Hereinafter as Redmond), *Brian Foster- now-Robert Humphreys*, *represented by Assistant Attorney General Richard B. Moriarty* (Hereinafter as Atty. Moriarty), *Assistant Attorney General Richard B. Moriarty* (Hereinafter as Atty. Moriarty), *Probation Agent Colleen McCoshen* (Hereinafter as Agent McCoshen and DOC), *Attorney or Counsel Randall Skiles* (Hereinafter as Counsel or Attorney Skiles).

1. Administrative Law Judge Robert G. Pultz, (hereinafter ALJ) presided over Redmond's final revocation hearing on April 17, 2012.
2. Redmond appeared in person and was represented by Attorney Randall Skiles ("Counsel"). Agent Colleen McCoshen (hereinafter "Agent") appeared on behalf of the Department of Corrections, Division of Community Corrections.
3. The Agent advised the parties that Ms. Thomas was subpoenaed
4. (R: 10- EX 4, pg11-line4,) but neither she nor K.E.B appeared.
5. Ms. Thomas never signed for or was properly served a subpoena. Subsequently, the ALJ relied on the police reports. (R: 10- EX9, EX23).
6. The ALJ found that "The child's version has indicia of reliability as it is supported by physical evidence." (APP: 4- EX5, pg-3).
7. There was no physical evidence brought to bear at the final revocation hearing.
8. Redmond, by his attorney, stipulated to allegations five, six, and eight
9. (R: 10- EX3-pg-3 line12-13).
10. DOC withdrew Allegation number seven (R: 10- EX3, pg-8 line 8-11).
11. The ALJ found Redmond guilty of allegations one, two, three, and four.
12. Redmond asked Counsel to file a petition for writ of certiorari, but Counsel declined. (R: 10- EX6).
13. Ms. Thomas: stated via a phone call with Redmond (R: 10- EX7 pg-B line4-8), that she paid her nephew K.E.B to lie about what happen during the alleged incident, in which the police relayed in their reports (R: 10- EX8).
14. K.E.B made a statement "I think he's stupid", about Redmond wanting to be with Ms. Thomas (His aunt) after the alleged incident, see (R: 10- EX1).

15. Ms. Thomas stated she paid K.E.B to lie (R: 10- EX9 pg-5-#5, EX7 pg-B line4-8), and admitted to being scared to serve jail time (R: 10- EX1, EX7, EX9-pg-2 #9).
16. Most importantly, the nephew admitted that Redmond never assaulted him. (R: 10 EX2).
17. Ms. Thomas signed a sworn affidavit, (R: 10- EX9 pg-2 #11) which she would have testified to, and which is now being used in this petition, stating that she lied in her previous statements to police and further stating that Redmond did not assault her.
18. Redmond told counsel to postpone the hearing so that he could attend his preliminary hearing first to see if his charges will be dropped or amended down to an ATR. See letter counsel mailed to Redmond regarding postponing (R: 10- EX11).
19. In a letter mailed to counsel from Redmond dated February 14, 2013. (R: 10- EX10). Redmond asked counsel if he would sign an affidavit admitting being told to postpone the revocation hearing.
20. Counsel did not sign the affidavit admitting to what was stated in Redmond's letter. Counsel replied to the fact that Redmond asked to postpone his hearing. See (R: 10- EX11).
21. Since resolution of Redmond's petition relies largely upon what happened at the revocation hearing, as well as what *didn't happen*, he offers the following verbatim testimony and phone recordings in his statement of facts:
22. The following excerpt is verbatim from the revocation hearing:
23. DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS (R: 10- EX4 pg-10 line1-20)

[RECORDING IS ON THE SECOND PART OF THE DISC, FAST FORWARD FIRST HALF TO THE END OF THE RECORDING, IT WILL THEN AUTOMATICALLY GO TO THE SECOND PART] (Report recording to **2:28** and play until **2:40**)

1. **Skiles:** why not?
2. **Agent:** because he was an absconder
3. **Skiles:** ok, you had some contact with him didn't you?
4. **Agent:** actually I put this together right before we came in, about the nine
5. months he was out
6. he was an absconder for at least four of it and incarcerated for two
7. **Skiles:** ok
8. **Agent:** so really we probably met five or six times
9. **Skiles:** the only ATR that you had prior to this event was 30 days sanction correct?
10. **Agent:** uh... extended supervision sanction is not an ATR, it's a umm... a
11. Sanction apparently
12. **Skiles:** you would agree that the Department would not be considering revocation if it **(2:28)**
13. Weren't For the battery allegation and the pending felony charge?**(2:36)**
14. **Agent:** probably not **(2:40)** **[time on recording]**
15. **Skiles:** ok, you would also agree that the state of the law is that if a judge found under the
16. record before him that the battery charge was unfounded, revocation was not due, but if
17. later on there was a conviction in the pending criminal case you could then revoke based
18. On the conviction?
19. **Agent:** I've done that many times
20. **Skiles:** no other questions

There was a phone called between Redmond and Ms. Thomas, on March 29, 2013, where she, Ms. Thomas, stated that she paid her nephew to lie. (R: 10- EX7)

Short excerpt of Recording:

2. **Astoria:** o.k. But the thing is though is if umm...
3. **Redmond:** Don't talk through the phone
4. **Astoria:** I know because then I'll be going to jail
5. **Redmond:** you'll be going to jail for what?
6. **Redmond:** why would you go to jail...? (Laugh) and why you smacking in my ear?
7. **Astoria:** You really want me to tell you the truth?
1. **Redmond:** Yea... no... why would you go to jail? Yea tell me the truth
2. (Inaudible)
3. **Redmond:** Huh?
4. **Astoria:** umm... no well... umm o.k. Because I told him if we go to court tell the
5. Truth and when that day I had umm... maybe gave him a little bit of money... to
6. Tell them stuff...that happened
7. **Redmond:** you gave who a little bit of money?
8. **Astoria:** umm...no o.k. But...no... I don't want to go to jail though.
15. **Redmond:** About who?
16. **Astoria:** You
17. **Redmond:** like what you talking about?
18. **Astoria:** umm...well I don't have money on the phone
19. **Redmond:** o.k. Well I guess umm...
20. **Astoria:** umm... but don't tell anyone ok.
21. **Astoria:** Because
22. **Redmond:** o.k.
23. **Astoria:** I don't want to go to jail

24. **Redmond:** o.k. We aint gone talk thought the phone whatever
(Emphasis added)
11. **Redmond:** o.k. But I'm still wondering who the fuck did you (inaudible)
in what
12. About me... who did you pay?
13. **Astoria:** (heavy breath)...Kaevon
14. **Redmond:** man all right I'm gone talked to you later
15. **Astoria:** o.k. Bye.
- 16.

Excerpt from recording: (R: 10- EX7)

21. Call Identification #: **22862822_438692_03-29-2012_105418_1-608-658-2779**

DANE COUNTY JAIL

RECORDED PHONE CALL BETWEEN

ANTJUANREDMOND AND ASTORIA THOMAS

MARCH 29, 2012 *INMATE BOOKING #438692 INMATE NAME # 189287*

Redmond: you told her I hit you?

Astoria: No, I told her that I didn't tell—because it was the guy. I didn't tell that the guy was there too, and I told you, she didn't even want to fucking talk to me.

Redmond: You aint tell her that guy was there?

Astoria: Excuse me. Yes I did. I told her that I didn't tell the police that there was another person there. Or I told her also that I didn't know—like I was calling, asking him if I was gonna get in trouble for lying, you know. But she didn't get that, though, I don't know.

See (R: 10-EX7 Pg-7).

21. Eleven days before Redmond's revocation hearing dated April 6, 2012, see (R: 10- EX1&2), the alleged victims, Ms. Thomas and K.E.B gave statements to the Victim Witness Impact Division (V.W.I.D) of the D.A.'s office.
22. The Statements in part revealed that: K.E.B stated that Redmond never hit him, (R: 10- EX2).
23. Ms. Thomas explained she has many times tried to explain the wrong doings that she has put upon Redmond and Herself. Ms. Thomas admitted to being "abusive" when she gets mad, also she admits since she has known the defendant that "he's not 'abusive' to women" and most of all that she knows she's in great trouble for her actions and is very "scared to serve jail time", see (R: 10- EX1).
24. Redmond appealed his revocation decision and DHA's decision the Sheboygan Circuit court for a State *Habeas corpus* on the ineffective assistance claim.
25. The Honorable Judge L. Edward Stengel originally granted this petition and set for a briefing Schedule for the month of august and September.
26. The AAG Richard Briles Moriarty, who filed a motion to dismiss on August 11, 2014, represented Warden Foster.
27. Redmond Responded to the Motion to Dismiss and a Motion hearing was scheduled on September 10, 2014.
28. The Motion to dismiss was granted for the reasons set fourth in the motion to dismiss.
29. Now Redmond appeals to the Honorable Court of Appeals in the second district.

ARGUMENT

1) HONORABLE JUDGE L. EDWARD STENGEL DECISION WAS ERRONEOUS WHEN HE DENIED REDMOND HIS HABEAS CORPUS WITHOUT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON REDMOND'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN MATERIAL FACTS WERE PRESENTED.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court denying a petition for writ of habeas corpus presents a mixed question of law and fact. Factual determinations will not be reversed unless clearly erroneous. Whether writ of habeas corpus is available is a question of the law that is reviewed de novo. **State v. Pozo**, 2002 WI App 279, ¶6,

The fore-most concern within this appeal is when the judge makes an erroneous decision. Redmond argued that his counsel was ineffective, his performance was deficient and that it prejudiced him. (R: 10-Pg1-130). Redmond argued his attorney failed to effectively investigate which if he had, would have caused a different result. For example, some of the evidence that was presented shows the following:

1. Redmond did not cause any injury or harm to the alleged victims.
2. Counsel had the opportunity to interview and subpoena witnesses.
3. There were Newly Discovered evidence, etc.

Redmond did not make conclusory allegations to be denied an evidentiary hearing. The things he argued were material facts, as to what happen and what didn't happen supported by corroborating evidence of facts, which would cause for an evidentiary hearing. See **State v. Washington**, 176 Wis. 2d 205, 214-15, 500 N.W.2d 331, 335-36

(Ct. App. 1993) (Before a trial court must grant an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel claim, defendant must allege sufficient facts in their motion to raise a question of fact for the court).

The Judge's decision in denying Redmond an evidentiary hearing was erroneous because he, Redmond, specifically stated facts. See *State v. Nelson*, 54 Wis. 2d at 497 (If the motion on its face alleges facts which would entitle the defendant to relief, the circuit court has no *discretion* and must hold an evidentiary hearing); also see *State v. Pozo*, 2002 WI App 279, P6 (Factual determinations will not be reversed unless clearly erroneous).

Hon. Judge L. Edward Stengel's decision was erroneous because he failed to look at the facts Redmond submitted in his *habeas* petition. For example, Counsel's failure to subpoena a witness whom is the crux to the case was damaging to the defense. Redmond argued through his Habeas brief, that his counsel failed to subpoena Ms. Thomas when he personally met with her to get her to release her medical records knowing the state had a hard time locating her, and after discovering her recanted statements. This brings the questions why not subpoena this important witness to give testimony which would reflect her affidavits, police reports, recants etc, and to determine motive of her, Ms. Thomas, getting Redmond arrested. Because she clearly stated that she was upset that Redmond was cheating on her with other women, so by getting him put away she had the power to stop him from seeing other women (R: 10-EX9 pg-2 #10).

For instance, in *State v. Hicks*, 2007 Wisc. App. Lexis 1152, Hicks the defendant contends that the trial court should have conducted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that his counsel provided ineffective assistance for failing to pursue and present a defense

and witnesses. There were three witnesses in Hicks cases whom would have testified that he was at a different place during the specific times when the crime he was convicted of has taken place. Hicks stated that the witness whom should have been subpoenaed would testify that he did not commit the crime charged and in fact he was nowhere near the scene. Hicks argues that based on these specific facts he ask for relief by the court of appeals, because his counsel knew of these witness but failed to subpoena them The court of appeals agreed and vacated and remanded back to the lower courts.

Similarly, Redmond's Counsel knew that Ms. Thomas recanted her statement, and that she admitted to paying her nephew to lie because of her jealousy. Had he, counsel, subpoenaed Ms. Thomas, the finder of fact would have been different because she admitted to paying her nephew to lie and co-opt a plan to get Redmond arrested because of his cheatings that's the motive here.

Most importantly, the State couldn't subpoena Ms. Thomas Ms. Thomas, one of the allege victims personally, so they allegedly left a subpoena at Ms. Thomas's home. Redmond's revocation counsel stated that he managed to find her; and personally met with her to get a disclosure of health information from her (R: 10-EX4 pg-14 line10-14 EX9 pg-2 #11). This is one of those instances when you as an attorney, subpoena, obtain affidavit, INVESTIGATE. Common sense dictates when fighting to get a witness to attend the hearing, and when you finally meet with the witness you subpoena. The point is that Redmond argues that an affidavit or testimony would show that Redmond did not assault anyone.

Redmond stated material facts instead of conclusory allegations because, the witness, Ms. Thomas, gave a sworn affidavit which would reflect her testimony had she been subpoenaed. See *U.S. v. Yancey*, 825 F. 2d 83 (7th Cir. 1987); *Anderson v. Benik*, 2006 Wis. Dist. Lexis 3002, pg. 18; and *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 50-56 (Emphasizing the importance of having affidavit in order to present sufficient material facts for a reviewing court to meaningfully assess ineffective assistance and newly discovered evidence).

Therefore, on just this claim alone Redmond received the needed corroborating evidence regarding the hoax battery from Ms. Thomas in an affidavit dated August 2nd 2013. (R: 10-EX9).

This Honorable court shall see that the circuit courts decision was wrong by denying an evidentiary hearing. Supported by Atty. Moriarty's Motion to Dismiss (R: 18), without any foundation behind it. See, *Getschow v. Getschow*, 2011 WI APP 136, P19 (An appellate court will affirm the courts discretionary act if the trial court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and used a rational process to reach a reasonable conclusion).

2) HONORABLE JUDGE L. EDWARD STENGEL ABUSED HIS DISCRETION AND ERRONEOUSLY DECIDED THAT A HABEAS IS NOT THE PROPER REMEDY CHALLENGING REVOCATION COUNSEL EFFECTIVENESS.

Legal Analysis

State habeas corpus is the appropriate remedy to challenge revocation counsels effectiveness. *State ex rel. Vanderbeke v. Edicott*, 210 Wis. 2d 502; also see *Ramey*, 121 Wis. 2d 177; and *Reddin*, 215 Wis. 2d 179.

**A. A HABEAS IS THE PROPER REMEDY
CHALLENGING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
REVOCAION COUNSEL.**

Whether the circuit court feels that Redmond's Habeas petition is not appropriate at this time, he is still entitled to such remedy if he has an ineffective assistance claim. *Id.* The circuit court erroneously denied Redmond a Habeas review when the judge held that Redmond could have raised the effectiveness of counsel claim in another remedy (i.e.) Certiorari, Post-revocation motion to the Division of Hearings and Appeals consistent with booker (R: 19-pg17).

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