RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-06-2015

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP2637

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. ANTJUAN REDMOND,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN FOSTER, Warden, Kettle Moraine Correctional Institution,

Respondent-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE L. EDWARD STENGEL, PRESIDING, CASE NO. 14-CV-0310

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

KARLA Z. KECKHAVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1028242

Attorneys for Respondent-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. This Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of Redmond's petition for writ of habeas corpus because Redmond had adequate remedies available at law.
 - A. Habeas relief is barred unless the party seeking habeas relief shows the lack of adequate remedies available at law.

A "[w]rit of habeas corpus is an equitable remedy that protects a person's right to personal liberty by freeing him or her from illegal confinement." State ex rel. Washington v. State, 2012 WI App 74, ¶ 18, 343 Wis. 2d 434, 819 N.W.2d 305. But habeas corpus is an extraordinary writ that is only available to a petitioner under limited circumstances. State ex rel. L'Minggio v. 2003 WI 82, ¶ 18, 263 Wis. 2d 55, 667 N.W.2d 1. A petitioner who seeks habeas corpus relief must show that: (1) he or she is restrained of his or her liberty; (2) the restraint was imposed by a tribunal without jurisdiction or that the restraint was imposed contrary to constitutional protections; and (3) there was no other adequate remedy available in the law. Id.

If there is an adequate remedy available in the law, "habeas corpus is not available to the petitioner." State ex rel. Krieger v. Borgen, 2004 WI App 163, ¶ 5, 276 Wis. 2d 96, 687 N.W.2d 79. In Kreiger, this Court determined that habeas relief was properly denied "because [the petitioner]

cannot show that he pursued other remedies available to him in the law." Id. ¶ 13.

B. Generally, habeas is barred when detention is grounded on probation or parole revocation.

Redmond seeks to challenge, through a habeas petition, the DHA Administrator's final determination to revoke his probation. (R. 10.) But the Administrator is not a party, nor would he be a proper party to a habeas action. Habeas is usually precluded in those situations because certiorari review is "the common route for reviewing probation revocations, not a habeas writ." State ex rel. Cramer v. Schwarz, 2000 WI 86, ¶ 48, 236 Wis. 2d 473, 613 N.W.2d 591.

Generally, "[h]abeas corpus proceedings are . . . not available to challenge an administrative order revoking probation, since a writ of certiorari is available, and is the proper remedy under such circumstances." State ex rel. Haas v. McReynolds, 2002 WI 43, ¶ 14, 252 Wis. 2d 133, 643 N.W.2d 771. Applying that rule, habeas petitions challenging detention resulting from revocations ordinarily fail because of the availability of certiorari review. Id. (probation revocation); State ex rel. Purifoy v. Malone, 2002 WI App 151, ¶¶ 6-8, 256 Wis. 2d 98, 648 N.W.2d 1 (parole revocation).

Redmond contends that he can proceed by habeas based on his allegation that his revocation attorney was ineffective. But Redmond had other adequate and available remedies which preclude habeas relief.

C. Redmond had adequate and available remedies at law.

1. Ineffective assistance in revocation proceedings.

Redmond contends that he is wrongfully detained because of ineffective assistance of counsel during his hearing. (Pet'r-Appellant's revocation Br. 18-46.) reported decisions have addressed whether Three probationers may assert, through habeas petitions, ineffective assistance during revocation hearings. chronological order, they are: StateRamey, 121 Wis. 2d 177, 359 N.W.2d 402 (Ct. App. 1984), State ex rel. Vanderbeke v. Endicott, 210 Wis. 2d 502, 563 N.W.2d 883 (1997), and State ex rel. Reddin v. Galster, 215 Wis. 2d 179, 572 N.W.2d 505 (Ct. App. 1997). Vanderbeke issued in June 1997 (210 Wis. 2d at 502), and Reddin in November 1997 (215 Wis. 2d at 179), so Reddin is the latest reported decision addressing that issue. A fourth decision, State ex rel. Marth v. Smith, 224 Wis. 2d 578, 592 N.W.2d 307 (Ct. App. 1999), addressed whether a habeas petition claiming ineffective assistance during a revocation proceeding was governed by the Prisoner Litigation Reform Act (PLRA), 1997 Wis. Act 133, and determined that it was, without directly considering the availability of habeas in those situations. 224 Wis. 2d at 580-85.

In *Reddin*, this Court viewed *Ramey* as having "intimated that a writ of habeas corpus may be available to raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during probation revocation proceedings" and having held that "a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during probation revocation proceedings could *not* be addressed on certiorari review, because the scope of that review focuses solely on the actions and determinations of the administrative decision maker." *Reddin*, 215 Wis. 2d at 186.

In Vanderbeke, the supreme court viewed Ramey as having held that "habeas rather than certiorari is the appropriate procedure for an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel at a probation revocation proceeding when additional evidence is needed." 210 Wis. 2d at 522-23. Based on Ramey, the supreme court concluded that "habeas corpus was a proper method for Vanderbeke to use in challenging his probation revocation on the grounds of violation of due process because of incompetency and lack of counsel." 210 Wis. 2d at 522-23.

2. The Booker motion remedy created after Reddin.

In 2004, seven years after *Reddin* issued (and five years after *Marth* issued), a remedy was created by the court of appeals in *State ex rel. Booker v. Schwarz*, 2004 WI App 50, 270 Wis. 2d 745, 678 N.W.2d 361. A *Booker* motion provides Redmond with an adequate and available remedy at law, which precludes habeas relief.

Under *Booker*, an offender whose probation or parole was revoked has a right to move the DHA Administrator to reopen the revocation case. *Booker*, 270 Wis. 2d 745, ¶¶ 1-20. In *Booker*, probation was revoked through an ALJ decision and later affirmed by the DHA Administrator. *Id.* ¶ 4.

Six years later, with Booker still incarcerated based on the revocation, "Booker filed a motion with the Division seeking to vacate the revocation or, in the alternative, an evidentiary hearing to determine whether newly discovered evidence entitled him to a new revocation hearing." Booker, 270 Wis. 2d 745, ¶ 5. The DHA Administrator denied the motion. Id. ¶ 7. This Court held that, even without authority expressly allowing the DHA Administrator to re-open revocation proceedings, justice and due process required the Administrator to consider newly discovered evidence in civil revocation proceedings. Id. ¶¶ 9-14.

The five-prong test applicable in criminal proceedings now applies to motions to reopen filed with the DHA Administrator in civil revocation settings: (1) The evidence must have come to the moving party's knowledge after a trial; (2) the moving party must not have been negligent in seeking to discover it; (3) the evidence must be material to the issue; (4) the testimony must not be merely cumulative to the testimony which was introduced at trial; and (5) it must be reasonably probable that a different result would be reached on a new trial.

Booker, 270 Wis. 2d 745, ¶ 12. Since "Booker's post-revocation motion satisfied the requisite factors," id. ¶ 16, this Court reversed and remanded so that the DHA Administrator could reopen the revocation case and order an evidentiary hearing on the alleged newly discovered evidence. Id. ¶ 20.

Denials by the Administrator of *Booker* motions may be challenged through certiorari review. *Booker*, 270 Wis. 2d 745, ¶ 1. It is well-established that, where there are no statutory provisions for judicial review, the actions of a board or commission may be reviewed by certiorari. *State ex rel. Johnson v. Cady*, 50 Wis. 2d 540, 549-50, 185 N.W.2d 306 (1971).

3. A *Booker* motion is analogous to a criminal defendant's right to claim ineffective assistance of counsel through a motion for a new trial.

With the creation of the *Booker* motion remedy, probationers who allege ineffective assistance of revocation counsel are analogous to criminal defendants who claim ineffective assistance of trial counsel through motions for a new trial.

A motion for a new trial is an adequate and available remedy for challenges to ineffective assistance of trial counsel in criminal cases. For example, in *State v. Carter*, "Carter filed a post-conviction motion for a new trial on the grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel." 2010 WI 40, ¶ 1, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695. After a *Machner* hearing, that motion was denied. *Id.* ¶ 16. Carter appealed and, ultimately, the supreme upheld "the judgment of the circuit court denying Carter's post-conviction motion for a new trial." *Id.* ¶¶ 3, 17-18; *see also State v. Jeannie M.P.*, 2005 WI App 183, ¶¶ 1-2, 286 Wis. 2d 721, 703 N.W.2d 694 (reversing an order denying a motion for a new trial based on claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel); *State v. Cooks*, 2006 WI App 262, ¶¶ 1-2, 297 Wis. 2d 633, 726 N.W.2d 322 (same).

The *Booker* motion remedy eliminates the disparity between probationers and criminal defendants. It provides probationers with an adequate and available remedy to challenge ineffective assistance of revocation counsel, just like criminal defendants may pursue an ineffective assistance of counsel claim with a motion for a new trial. It makes no sense that probationers would be permitted to make such a challenge in habeas when criminal defendants cannot, especially when certiorari, not habeas, is the common method for reviewing probation revocation.

4. The *Booker* motion has been, and remains, an adequate and available remedy for Redmond.

To the extent that Redmond is detained based on the revocation decision issued by the DHA Administrator on May 15, 2012, he could have sought—and may still seek—to be released from detention by asking the Administrator, through a *Booker* motion, to reopen those revocation proceedings. Under the logic of *Booker*, ineffective assistance claims in revocation settings may be pursued through post-revocation motions to the DHA Administrator just as ineffective assistance claims may be pursued through post-trial motions to trial courts in criminal cases. 270 Wis. 2d 745, ¶¶ 9-14.

A Booker motion is an adequate and available remedy whenever a probationer obtains newly discovered evidence that might qualify for that relief. Redmond has to show that there are no adequate remedies at law and, given the Booker motion option, he cannot make that showing.

The logic of *Booker* suggests that probationers like Redmond are not limited to situations involving newly discovered evidence and that other post-revocation remedies, addressable to the DHA Administrator, could also exist.

Booker was based on the concept that it would be unjust for criminal defendants to pursue post-trial motions based on newly discovered evidence while persons whose probation or parole was revoked could not pursue similar post-revocation motions. As noted above, in criminal cases, claims that trial counsel was ineffective, whether based on new evidence or not, may be pursued through adequate and separate post-trial means. Under that logic, persons whose probation or parole is revoked should also be able to pursue post-revocation motions based on alleged ineffective assistance of revocation counsel.

No reported Wisconsin decision has addressed this issue. But after *Booker*, a petitioner pursuing habeas relief based on alleged ineffective assistance of revocation counsel cannot demonstrate that he has no adequate remedy at law when he has not filed a *Booker* motion. *Booker* signals that filing a motion with the DHA Administrator is a far better forum for presenting an ineffective assistance of revocation counsel claim than in circuit court since the DHA Administrator has the full record to evaluate the claim and is more familiar with the facts of the revocation proceeding to assess prejudice.

In his circuit court briefing, Redmond claimed that he contacted the DHA Administrator and requested a new revocation hearing based on newly discovered evidence. (R 21:23-24; 22:3-4.) The "newly discovered" evidence—that Astoria Thomas recanted her version of the incident—was ALJpreviously presented the and the DHAAdministrator. (R. 22:3-4.) Redmond did not raise ineffective assistance of counsel in his request to $_{
m the}$ DHAAdministrator. (R. 22:3-4.) The DHA Administrator analyzed

Redmond's request using the five-prong test outlined in *Booker* and concluded that Redmond was not entitled to a new hearing. (R. 22:3-4.) Redmond did not seek certiorari review of this decision.

In summary, Redmond filed a *Booker* motion with the DHA Administrator based on allegedly newly discovered evidence, but that motion was appropriately denied and Redmond did not seek certiorari review. (R. 22:3-4.) Redmond does not allege that he filed a *Booker* motion based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (R. 21:23-24; 22:3-4.) Thus, Redmond has failed to demonstrate that he had no adequate and available remedies and, for that reason alone, the circuit court properly dismissed Redmond's habeas petition.

II. This Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of the habeas petition because, even if Redmond's revocation counsel's performance was deficient, it would have made no difference to the revocation decision.

Redmond admitted to several probation violations other than the ones involving battery. The DHA Administrator stated that he would have revoked Redmond's probation on those violations alone. Even if Redmond had proven that his revocation counsel performed deficiently, it would have made no difference to the revocation decision and there was no prejudice to Redmond. In other words, there was no ineffective assistance of counsel.

To establish constitutionally deficient representation, a defendant must show: (1) deficient representation; and (2)resulting prejudice. Strickland υ. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To succeed on the prejudice aspect of the Strickland analysis, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694. A court does not need to address both aspects of the Strickland test if the defendant does not make a sufficient showing on either one. See id. at 697.

"Violation of a condition" is "both a necessary and a sufficient ground for the revocation of probation." State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 211 Wis. 2d 710, 724, 566 N.W.2d 173 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added). Revocation is sufficiently grounded if just one violation is proven or admitted regardless of how many violations may be alleged. Id.

Redmond admitted to three probation violations other than the ones involving battery. (R. 10:65, 125.) The DHA Administrator concluded that these violations alone warranted revocation and reconfinement:

In addition, Mr. Redmond admitted to the violations of failing to report to a scheduled meeting with his agent, driving without a valid driver's license and lying to the police about his identity when he was arrested. (Exhibit 5) These violations warrant revocation of his supervision.

(R. 10:125.)

This decision was reasonable because these were serious violations, which involved absconding from supervision. (R. 10:126.) And only a year before, Redmond had violated his rules of supervision in failing to report to his agent. (R. 10:110.) He was warned and counseled about the need to report to his agent when scheduled. (R. 10:110.) His continued failure to comply with his rules of supervision further justifies the Administrator's decision to revoke on the admitted violations.

A "[w]rit of habeas corpus is an equitable remedy that protects a person's right to personal liberty by freeing him or her from illegal confinement." Washington, 343 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 18. "As an equitable doctrine, . . . habeas corpus is confined to situations in which there is a pressing need for relief or where the process or judgment upon which a prisoner is held is void." State ex rel. Dowe v. Circuit Court for Waukesha Cnty., 184 Wis. 2d 724, 728-29, 516 N.W.2d 714 (1994) (citiation omitted). That is not the situation here. Even if Redmond had proven that his counsel's performance was deficient, he still could obtain no habeas relief since the result of the proceeding would have been the same.

There was no prejudice and no ineffective assistance of counsel.³

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision.